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LEE M. GORDON (SBN 174168)
ELAINE T. BYSZEWSKI (SBN 222304)
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP
700 South Flower Street, Suite 2940
Los Angeles, CA 90017-4101
Telephone: (213) 330-7150
Facsimile: (213) 330-7152
-and-
STEVE W. BERMAN
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP
1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2900
Seattle, WA 98101
Telephone: (206) 623-7292
Facsimile: (206) 623-0594

Attorneys for Plaintiff

[Additional Counsel Listed on Signature Page]

ORIGINAL FILED

DEC 0 9 2005

LOS ANGELES
SUPERIOR COURT

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

SUSANNAH K. ALEXANDER, individually
and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V.
SOLVAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,,

Defendant.

COORDINATED PRE-TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

Dr. Sherrel Howard V. Solvay Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., et al., Los Angeles Superior Court Case No.

BC325120

Case No. BC 300364
(Related to BC 325120 pursuant to Civil
Minute Order Entered June 29, 2005)

CLASS ACTION

FIFTH AMENDED CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF
THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW
AND THE FALSE ADVERTISING LAW

Complaint Filed: August 7, 2003

Plaintiff Susannah K. Alexander, by counsel and for the Fifth Amended Class Action

Complaint for Violations of the Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et

seq., and the False Advertising Law, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500, ef seq. (“Section 175007), alleges '
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upon personal knowledge and belief as to her own acts, and upon information and belief (based on
the investigation of counsel) as to all other matters, as to which allegations Plaintiff believes
substantial evidentiary support will exist after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation
and discovery, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, as follows:
L NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This class action seeks to stop Defendant’s unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business
practices and false and misleading advertising related to the marketing and sale of its hormone
replacement therapies known as Estratest and Estratest HS. An understanding of the history of
these products in the context of the Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act is presented herein in order to aid
understanding the nature of the violations of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 and 17500 et seq.

2. Since 1938, the Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act has required drug companies to obtain
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval before they marketing new drugs. In order to
obtain FDA approval, a company is required to file a New Drug Application (“NDA”) and, since
1962, has been required to prove that the product is effective as well as safe.

3. Defendant Solvay Pharméceuticals, Inc. (“Defendant” and “Solvay”) has been
manufacturing and marketing the drugs Estratest and Estratest H.S. (collectively “Estratest”) as a

hormone replacement therapy since 1964. Solvay develops, distributes and prints literature,

advertisements and promotional materials, which are distributed to physicians, that encourage the

use of Estratest for treatment of moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms associated with
menopause for those patients not improved by treatment with estrogens alone. The literature
distributed to doctors contains express representations that these drugs are appropriate for this
purpose. Solvay also posts information about Estratest to be viewed by physicians and patients on
its Internet website. Additionally, over the past several years, Solvay expanded marketing of
Estratest to include treatment of female sexual dysfunction, i.e. loss of libido, also not an approved
use by the FDA.

vy
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4, Solvay advertised its pharmaceutical products in a variety of media. Solvay has
published advertisements in scientific and medical joumnals including without limitation
OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY, and FERTILITY & STERILITY. A typical advertisement
contained text in “plain English” urging prescription by physicians of Estratest as well as eye
catching illustrations. Each advertisement also had “an adjacent page for brief description of
prescribing information” which contained detailed “prescribing information” based upon the
“package insert”. Attached hereto as Exhibit A and included herein is a typical advertisement
published by Solvay in the September 1999 issue of OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY.
“Prescribing information” and “package insert” are terms of art, which refer to pharmaceuticals
approved for use by the FDA. The use of these terms repeatedly in these advertisements was an
artifice to deceive, mislead, and defraud physicians and patients into believing that Estratest had
been approved by the FDA.

5. Solvay also has caused information about Solvay itself and Estratest to be published
in the Physician’s Desk Reference (“PDR”). The PDR is a unique publication, which until 2004
stated that it published only “FDA-approved” labeling for, and information about, drug. The
Foreward to the PDR for 2003, the 57™ edition is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated
herein together with the listing paid for Solvay, listing inter alia, Estratest and Estratest H.S. as
drugs eligible for inclusion in the PDR and, consequently, represented by Solvay to be approved
for use by the FDA. The Foreward reads in one of its pertinent parts:

How to Use This book

Physicians’ Desk Reference is published by Thomson PDR in cooperation with
participating manufacturers. Each full length entry provides you with an exact copy of
the product’s FDA-approved labeling. Under the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics
(FD&C) Act, a drug approved for marketing may be labeled, promoted, and advertised by
the manufacturer for only those uses for which the drug’s safety and effectiveness have
been established. The Code of Federal Regulations 201.100(d)(1) pertaining to labeling
for prescription products requires that for PDR content “indications, effects, dosages,
routes, methods, and frequency and duration of administration and any, relevant
warnings, hazards, contraindications, side effects, and precautions” must be “same in
language and emphasis” as the approved labeling for the products. The Food and Drug
Administration (FDA regards the words same in language and emphasis as requiring
VERBATIM use of the approved labeling providing such information. Furthermore,
information that is emphasized in the approved labeling by the use of type set in a box, or
in capitals, boldface, or italics, must be given the same emphasis in PDR.

B -3-
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The function of the publisher is the compilation, organization, and distribution of this
information. Each product description has bee prepared by the manufacturer, and edited
and approved by the manufacturer’s medical department, medical director, and/or
medical consultant. In organizing and presenting the material in Physicians’ Desk
Reference, the publisher does not warrant or guarantee any of the products described, or
perform any independent analysis in connection with any of the product information
contained herein. Physicians’ Desk Reference does not assume, and expressly disclaims,
any obligation to obtain and include any information other than that provided to it by the
manufacturer. It should be understood that by making this material available the
publisher is not advocating the use of any product described herein, nor is the publisher
responsible for misuse of a product due to typographical error. Additional information on
any product may be obtained from the manufacturer.

The quoted language is the same as that included in the Forewards to previous editions of
the PDR, including, e.g., the 2002 Volume, Edition 56. “Each full-length entry provides you with
an exact copy of the product’s FDA-approved labeling.” Solvay paid for Estratest and Estratest
H.S. to be listed in the relevant PDRs during the period at issue in the instant lawsuit. Solvay
knew, based upon the Forewards to the relevant Editions, that only FDA-approved drugs were
eligible for inclusion in the PDR. Solvay further knew that physicians utilize the PDR to identify
FDA-approved drugs to use in FDA-approved applications and uses for treating their patients.
Solvay paid the publisher of the PDR to include Estratest and Estratest H.S. in the PDRs as part of
an artifice to deceive, mislead, and defraud physicians and patients into the belief that Estratest and
Estratest H.S. had received the approval of the FDA for the purposes that Solvay listed in the
PDRs.

6. Solvay has, in fact, never received FDA approval for the promotion and sale of
Estratest for treatment of women suffering from vasomotor symptoms associated with menopause
who are not responding to estrogen treatment. Because Estratest has never been approved for the
stated purpose, even more irony abounds when physicians’ continue to prescribe Estratest for “off
label” uses to menopausal women suffering from sexual dysfunction. Solvay’s growing sales
reflect its ability to tap into this other related market for treatment of sexual dysfunction in post-
menopausal women. Solvay’s marketing and sales tactics of Estratest, including representations
made in the PDRs and elsewhere from 1962 through at least the year 2003, are false, fraudulent,

deceptive, and illegal.
-4
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7. Solvay has utilized unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent representations and business
practices that involved the marketing and sale of Estratest as an FDA approved drug, that deceived
and defrauded thousands of patients and physicians, and that caused physicians to write over 34
million prescriptions for Estratest since 1964. Tens of thousands of women in this state have
purchased and used Estratest because of Solvay’s improper marketing activity, including its

promotion of the drug as one that has been approved by the FDA as safe and effective for use by

-women suffering from certain menopause-related symptoms.

8. In this class action, Plaintiff seeks declaratory and equitable relief, including
restitution and/or disgorgement of all illegal profits obtained by Defendant as a result of its
unlawful, unfair and/or deceptive practices in violation of the UCL. Plaintiff does not improperly
seek to enforce the provisions of the Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act, or otherwise ask any court to
take on the monitoring role assigned to the FDA.

II. PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Susannah K. Alexander (“Plaintiff”) is an individual residing in the County
of Orange, California, who was injured by the conduct alleged herein. Plaintiff was prescribed and
purchased Estratest to treat the onset of menopause and under the guise, as alleged herein, that it
was approved for the treatment of menopause. She made payments for Estratest fdr approximately
eight (8) years, beginning in 1997 and ending in January 2005. She paid full out-of-pocket
expenses for Estratest until approximately 2001, after which she made co-payments for the drug
through her insurance plan. As an individual, Plaintiff pursues this class action on behalf of herself
and all others similarly situated.

10.  Plaintiff does not seek damages in this action for Estratest—induced personal injuries
for herself or class action members, but Plaintiff and the class members reserve their individual
rights to seek damages in a separate action for personal injuries should they have been suffered as a
result of using Estratest.

11. Solvay is headquartered in Marietta, Georgia and is involved in the sale and

distribution of Estratest and Estratest H.S.

-5-
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III.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this class action pursuant to Bus. &
Prof. Code §§ 17204 and 17535. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the parties because
Plaintiff submits to the jurisdiction of the Court and Defendant syétematically and continually
conducted business in the County of Los Angeles and the State of California. The absence of a
private right of action under 21 U.S.C. § 337(a) does not divest this Court of jurisdiction over
Plaintiff’s claim based on Solvay’s unlawful business practices for any violations of the Food,
Drug & Cosmetic Act.

13.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17204 and 17535
because Defendant conducted business in the County of Los Angeles, including marketing,
advertising, and sales directed to California residents. Further, at all times mentioned in this Fifth
Amended Complaint, Defendant made misrepresentations and material omissions to residents of
the County of Los Angeles and resident of the State of California.

14.  Federal subject matter jurisdiction over this class action does not exist. Complete
diversity of citizenship between Plaintiff and Defendant does not exist. Under applicable federal
law, damages, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees and costs cannot be aggregated to meet the
minimum jurisdictional amount for federal court subject matter jurisdiction. Plaintiff asserts no
federal questions and/or violations of federal law. To the extent federal laws are mentioned herein,
those laws do not provide a cause of action for their violation. The claims asserted herein are

strictly for violations of California law.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Solvay Sells Estratest And Estratest H.S. For The Relief Of Symptoms
Associated With Menopause

15.  Doctors prescribe estrogens for a number of purposes, including:
a. To provide estrogen during a period of adjustment when a woman’s ovaries

no longer produce it, in order to prevent certain uncomfortable symptoms of estrogen deficiency.

-6-

FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT




O 00 N1 N v bW N e

N NN NN N NN N e e e e b e ek el e e
0 N9 B LN = D0 Y Y R W N e o

(All women normally stop producing estrogens, generally between the ages of 45 and 55; this is

called menopause.);

b. To prevent symptoms of estrogen deficiency when a woman’s ovaries have

been removed surgically before the natural menopause;

c. To prevent pregnancy; and
d. To treat certain cancers in women and men.
16.  In the natural course of their lives, all women eventually experience a decrease in

estrogen production. This usually occurs between the ages of 45 and 55 but may occur earlier or

later. Sometimes the ovaries may need to be removed before natural menopause by an operation,

producing a “surgical menopause.”

17. When the amount of estrogen in the blood begins to decrease, women may develop
typical symptoms: Feelings of warmth in the face, neck, and chest or sudden intense episodes of
heat and sweating throughout the body (called “hot flashes” or “hot flushes”). These symptoms,
also called vasomotor symptoms, have been described as “recurrent, transient periods of flushing,
sweating, and a sensation of heat, often accompanied by palpitation, feeling of anxiety, and
sometimes followed by chills,” and are sometimes very uncomfortable. A few women eventually
develop changes in the vagina (called “atrophic vaginitis”) which cause discomfort, especially
during and after intercourse.

18.  Physicians prescribe estrogen products to treat these symptoms of menopause.
While it is estimated that more than one-half of all women undergoing menopause have only mild
or no symptoms at all and, therefore, do not need estrogens, many other women may need
estrogens for a few months while their bodies adjust to lower estrogen levels.

19.  Many estrogen products used in the treatment of symptoms of menopause are
estrogen-only products. However, a subset of women experiencing menopausal symptoms are not
improved by estrogens alone, leading drug manufacturers to experiment with combination
estrogen-androgen drug products. Estratest is one such combination drug.

/17
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20.  According to Solvay’s Internet website,‘ Estratest is a combination of esterified
estrogens and methyltestosterone and is available in two dosage strengths: Estratest contains 1.25
mg esterified estrogens and 2.5mg methyltestosterone and Estratest H.S. is the half-strength
formulation, containing 0.625mg esterified estrogens and 1.25mg methyltestosterone. Solvay
develbpcd, manufactures, distributes and promotes Estratest.

21.  In fact sheets appearing on Solvay’s website ‘and distributed to doctors, Solvay

promotes Estratest and Estratest H.S. tablets for:

Indications
e Indicated for the management of moderate to severe vasomotor

symptoms associated with menopause in patients who do not

respond to estrogens alone.
Using the term “indications,” which is a term of art within the medical community relating to FDA
approved uses for drugs, implies that Estratest and Estratest H.S. are FDA approved for the uses
specified.

22.  Solvay informs doctors that there is a proper “Dose and Administration”:

1. Given cyclically for shori-term use only:

For treatment of moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms associated with
the menopause in patients not improved by estrogen alone.

The lowest dose that will control symptoms should be chosen and
medication should be discontinued as promptly as possible.

Administration should be cyclic (e.g., three weeks on and one week off).
Attempts to discontinue or taper medication should be made at three to six
month intervals.

Usual Dosage Range: 1 tablet of ESTRATEST® or 1 to 2 tablets of
ESTRATEST® H.S. daily as recommended by the physician.

Treated patients with an intact uterus should be monitored closely for
signs of endometrial cancer and appropriate diagnostic measures should be

taken to rule out malignancy in the event of persistent or recurring
abnormal vaginal bleeding.

117/
/17
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HOW SUPPLIED

ESTRATEST® (Imprinted “SOLVAY 1026”) ‘
Bottles 0 100 ...c.ooviiiiiiiicieieieinieie e NDC 0032-1026-01
Bottles 0f 1000 ...cvoveiririeiiieieieieee e NDC 0032-1026-10
ESTRATEST® (dark green, capsule shaped, sugar-coated oral tablets)
contains: 1.25 mg of Esterified Estrogens, USP and 2.5 mg of
Methyltestosterone, USP.

ESTRATEST® H.S. (Imprinted “SOLVAY 1023™)
BOtES OF 100 .o eeeeaeraeee s NDC 0032-1023-01

ESTRATEST® H.S. “Half-Strength” (light green, capsula shaped, sugar-
coated oral tablets) contains: 0.625 mg of Esterified Estrogens, USP and
1.25 mg of Methyltestosterone, USP.

Store at controlled room temperature, 15-30° C (59-86° F).

Solvay’s use of FDA drug specific terminology in these materials implies to physicians and
patients alike that these products are FDA approved and should be administered as described.

23.  One of the leading resource materials used by physicians in deciding what drugs to
prescribe is the PDR. Drug manufacturers, including Solvay, sponsor the PDR. In fact, only
participating manufacturers’ may list products in the PDR at a cost to the manufacturer for this
sponsorship. Recognizing this powerful form of advertising, manufactures, like Solvay make the
required payments so its products are included in the publication. Drug manufacturers report to the
PDR’s publisher detailed information about their drugs, including proper dosages and appropriate
treatments for which a drug maybe prescribed. The PDR’s 2002 Forward explicitly states “With
over 3,000 pages of detailed prescribing information approved by the FDA, this volume is
unquestionably the healthcare community’s most fundamental pharmaceutical reference — an
indispensable source of in-depth data on the efficacy, potential adverse effects, clinical
pharmacology, and proper use of thousands of prescription medications.” Implicit and explicit in
this self-reporting is the representation that the drugs are approved by the FDA for the uses
indicated in the manufacturers’ description. Solvay, for the years relevant to this lawsuit, sent
detailed information about Estratest to the PDR’s publisher designed to give the appearance of an

FDA approved drug for the purpose of treating women with vasomotor symptoms associated with

-9.

FIFTH AMENDED COMPLAINT




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

menopause in patients who do not respond to estrogens alone. Solvay knew that the PDR is a
widely used reference and the physicians using it believe that the products listed therein are FDA
approved. As a result of this PDR publication referred to by physicians, tens of fhousands of
doctors have pfescribed Estratest to patients in the State of California. It was not until the 59
Edition, published in 2005, that Solvay admitted that “[Estratest] has not obtained FDA pre-market
approval applicable for new drugs.”

24.  According to a recent news article, doctors like OB-GYN Steven Ory, who worked
on a review of this category of drugs for the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists,
reportedly had no idea that Estratest was not FDA approved and even pointed to the listing in the
PDR as evidence to support his notion that it had been FDA approved. WALL STREET JOURNAL,
March 20, 2003.

25.  Internet pharmacies regularly pitch Estratest to on-line consumers as if it is FDA
approved and contrast its benefits to those products on the market that have not yet been approved
by the FDA. As a result of this type of marketing, consumers are drawn to Estratest over an
untested or unapproved alternative that may exist.

26. Women, in menopause “chat rooms,” also discuss Estratest. In one such forum,

www.hyster-sister.com, women ask each other if cheaper “generic” versions of the Estratest are

available and have been tried. Internet chat links like these indicate that women believe that
Estratest is FDA approved and “generic” alternative drugs exist. This impression stems from
Solvay’s deceptive marketing tactics.

27.  Solvay employs an active sales team to call upon physicians around the country,
including California in order to promote Estratest. In addition to leaving promotional rﬁaterials,
sales representatives also supply physicians with the package inserts, samples, and physician
labeling materials for the physicians’ benefit. None of the promotional materials disclose that the
FDA has not approved Estratest. Solvay designed these promotional materials to look like
materials that are distributed about FDA approved drugs. Furthermore, the sales calls made by

these representatives reinforce the impression that Estratest is FDA approved. Physicians receive

-10-
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visits from representatives from many pharmaceutical manufacturers and these representatives’

visits signify to physicians that a drug being promoted has been FDA approved. Solvay’s
representatives promoting Estratest do not inform physicians that the FDA has never approved

Estratest.

28. Solvay advertises in medical journals such as OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY to
promote the use of Estratest. One such advertisement asks physicians and patients to “Consider
Estratest brand Tablets as your first choice when vasomotor symptoms are not relieved by estrogen
alone.” Solvay once again uses terms of art like “indicated for the treatment of moderate to severe
vasomotor symptoms...” in order to create the impression that Estratest has been approved by the
FDA. The advertisement does not disclose that the FDA has not approved these products for any
use.

29, Solvay maintains a website for consumers and physicians in the United States that
maintains separate pages for each of its products. Anyone visiting Solvay’s website can select
Estratest in order to obtain its product information. Until recently, users were directed to a fact
sheet that identified the “indications” or functions of Estratest and gavé the visitor an opportunity
to review and print the “Physician Prescribing Information,” “Patient Information,” and “a printer
friendly version of the Fact Sheet.” At some time after November 2003, Solvay modified its home
page about Estratest so it is now entitled “Product Information.” Instead of the detailed fact sheet
previously used, it is a more abbreviated listing and notably includes a statement that reads: “This
product has not yet obtained FDA pre-market approval applicable for new drugs.” It is apparent
that Solvay added this language after the filing of the original Complaint on August 6, 2003 and
after the filing of the First Amended Complaint, filed on December 5, 2003. However, Solvay’s
choice of words could mislead consumers into thinking “pre-market approval” does not mean that
the product is not and has never been FDA approved and the mere fact that Solvay only makes this
type of disclosure on its website after this case was filed and not in its promotional materials
merely perpetuates the deception.

/11
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B. Estratest Lacks FDA Approval

30. Asset fortfl below, Estratest has never received FDA approval. Abbreviated New
Drug Applications (“ANDAs”) were filed in 1981 but have never been approved. Nonetheless,
Solvay continues to market and sell Estratest as if it were FDA approved. Moreover, it unlawfully
promotes “off label” use of Estratest to treat sexual dysfunction in menopausal women, even
though it does not have an approved label at all. In 2000, Estratest was 199th on the list of the top
200 prescription drugs in retail sales. Sales of the drug were about $110 million in 2001.

31.  In a notice published in the Federal Register of September 8, 1972 (37 FR 18225),
the FDA announced its evaluation of the various indications claimed for the following five

combination estrogen-androgen drug products:

(1) Halodrin Tablets (NDA 11-267) containing fluoxymesterone and ethinyl
estradiol;

2) Tylosterone Injection (NDA 8-099), containing diethylstilbestrol and
: methyltestosterone; _

3) Tylosterone Tablets (NDA 7-661), containing diethylstilbestrol and
methyltestosterone;

4) Tace with Androgen Capsules (NDA 10-597), containing chlorotrianisene
and methyltestosterone;

(5) Deladumone Injection and Deladumone OB Injection (NDA 9-545),
containing testosterone enanthate and estradiol valerate.

32.  As announced in that 1972 notice, the FDA found these drugs to be safe and
effective for the “prevention of postpartum Breast engorgement” and “for the menopausal
syndrome in those patients not improved by estrogen alone.”

33.  In the Federal Register of September 29, 1976 (41 FR 43112), the FDA announced
that the menopausal indication for the aforementioned combination estrogen-androgen drug

products was revised to read as follows:

Moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms associated with the menopause
in those patients not improved by estrogen alone. (There is no evidence
that estrogens are effective for nervous symptoms or depression which
might occur during menopause, and they should not be used to treat these
conditions.) [41 FR 43112 at 43113].

-12-
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34.  In 1981, the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) (then the Bureauv of
Drugs) determined in response to requests from the spbnsors that the effectiveness finding of the
1976 DESI 7661 Federal Register notice (which referred to five particular estrogen-androgen drug
products) could be applied to two additional combination drug products that were not listed in the
1976 notice, but were being marketed at the time: (a) Conjugated estrogens and methyltestosterone
and (b) esterified estrogens and methyltestosterone. Based on this finding, the FDA filed (i.e.,
accepted for review) abbreviated new drug applications (“ANDAs”) for these drug products.
Thereafter, Wyeth-Ayerst submitted ANDAs for two drug products falling within the first category
and containing conjugated estrogens and methyltestosterone. Estratest fell within the second newly
noticed category, prompting Reid-Provident Laboratories (subsequently acquired by Solvay) to
submit ANDA 87-212 for a drug product containing 0.625 mg esterified estrogens and 1.25 mg
methyltestosterone (Estratest H.S.), and ANDA 87-597 for a drug product cbntaining 1.25 mg
esterified estrogens and 2.5 mg methyltestosterone (Estratest).

35.  Between 1993 and 1998, the FDA withdrew approval of the NDAs for all five
combinations estrogen-androgen drug products named in the 1972 and 1976 Federal Register
notices.

36.  In 1996, the FDA withdrew Wyeth-Ayerst’s two pending applications under 21
CFR 314.65 because the applications 'had been inactive for many years and Wyeth-Ayerst had
stopped marketing the products.

37.  The ANDAs for Estratest have not yet been approved and are still pending. Solvay,
however, has continued to market Estratest and Estratest H.S. despite the lack of FDA approval.
Solvay continued to publish its advertisements both in medical and scientific periodicals and its
listings in the PDR representing that Estratest had been approved by the FDA.

38.  The FDA publishes a compendium of all FDA approved drugs entitled the ORANGE -
BOOK. Notably, Estratest has never appeared in this publication.
/17
/17
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THE IMPACT OF SOLVAY’S MARKETING AND SALES TACTICS

39.  In spite of the rich history of Solvay’s attempts to gain FDA approval and its failure
to do so, the bottom line is that it has continued to go about the business of marketing and selling
Estratest to women as a hormone replacement therapy represented by and through publication in
the PDR as approved by the FDA. The WALL STREET JOURNAL recently reported that in the past
12 years alone, doctors have written nearly 35 million prescriptions for Estratest generating as
much as $178 million a year for its maker. |

40.  The WALL STREET JOURNAL reported that Solvay, marketing its drug Estratest as if
it were approved, even indicated that Estratest is FDA approved on a form required to sell drugs to
the U.S. Defense Department. Solvay’s response, as has been the response for over four decades,
is that the representation was an “inadvertent error.” This type of “inadvertent error” has resulted
in huge profits for Solvay. This same “inadvertent error” has been made over-and over again to
physicians in California and around the country. It is further passed on to the ultimate consumer,
the women who are prescribed Estratest for their menopause related symptoms, including sexual
dysfunction. |

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

41. Plaintiff brings this action individually and on behalf of a class deﬁned as follows: All
persons or entities in Califonﬁa who purchased Estratest in the four (4) years preceding the filing of
this action up to and including the present.

42.  The Class consists of tens of thousands of individuals and entities throughout
California, méking individual joinder impractical. The disposition of the claims of the Class members .
in a single class action will provide substantial benefits to all parties and to the Court.

43.  The claims of the representative Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the Class because
she, like all Class members, has purchased Estratest and has been harmed by Defendant’s misconduct.
Defendant’s actions have deprived Plaintiff and the members of the Class of their ability to make
an informed decision about whether to pay for Estratest and if so at what price.

/1
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44, The factual and legal bases of Defendant’s misconduct are common to all Class
members and represent a common thread of deception and other miséonduct resulting in injury to the
representative Plaintiff and all members of the Class.

45. There are many questions of law and fact common to the representative Plaintiff and
the Class, and those questions substantially predominate over any questions that may affect individual

Class members. Common questions include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) Whether Defendant’s use of false, fraudulent and deceptive
representations violates the UCL,;

(b) Whether Defendant’s active concealment of and/or failure to disclose
* the true nature of Estratest’s regulatory status in light of Defendant’s
varied misrepresentations violates the UCL and Section 17500;

(c) Whether Defendant made unsubstantiated claims regarding Estratest;

(d Whether Defendant’s misrepresentations constitute false and
misleading advertising;

(e) Whether Defendant should be declared financially responsible for
notifying all Class members of the true nature of Estratest’s regulatory
status; and

® Whether Defendant should be ordered to disgorge, for the benefit of the
Class, all or part of its ill-gotten profits received from the sale of
Estratest, and/or to make restitution to Plaintiff and the members of the
Class.

46. Plaintiff Alexander will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the
Class. Plaintiff has retained counsel with substantial experience in prosecuting consumer class

actions, including actions involving pharmaceutical sales. Plaintiff and her counsel are committed to

‘vigorously prosecuting this action on behalf of the Class, and have the financial resources to do so.

Neither Plaintiff nor her counsel has any interests adverse to those of the Class.

47, Plaintiff Alexander and the members of the Class suffered, and will continue to suffer,
hanﬁ as a result of Defendant’s unlawful and wrongful conduct. A class action is superior to other
available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. Absent a class action,

most members of the Class likely would find the cost of litigating their claims to be prohibitive, and
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will have no effective remedy at law. Because of the relatively small size of each individual Class
member's claims, few Class members likely could afford to seek legal redress for Defendant’s
misconduct. Absent a class action, Class members will continue to suffer harm and Defendant’s
misconduct will proceed without remedy. The class treatment of common questions of law and fact is
also superior to multiple individual actions or piecemeal litigation in that it conserves the resources of
the courts and tﬁe litigants, and promotes consistency and efficiency of adjudication. Additionally,
Defendant has acted and failed to act on grounds generally applicable to the named Plaintiff and the
Class and requires court imposition of relief as to the Class as a whole. Finally, because Plaintiff does
not appear to be able to pursue her claims solely on a representative basis iat this juncture, the
availability of that method of proceeding can no longer provide justification for denying class
certification of a UCL claim based on lack of superiority. See Frey v. Trans Union Corp., No.

(031928, 2005 Cal. App. LEXIS 401, *20-21 (March 24, 2005).

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of Unfair Competition Law
(Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 ef seq.)

48.  The preceding paragraphs of this Fifth Amended Complaint are realleged aﬁd
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of herself
and members of the Class.

49.  Defendant’s actions, as complained of herein, constitute unfair trade pfactices that
have the éapacity to and do deceive consumers in violation of the Unfair Competition Law, Bus. &
Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.:

(a) Defendant caused to beA published misleading advertisements, promotional
materials and product descriptions for Estratest;

(b)  Defendant promotes, markets and advertises Estratest for the “indications”
described above despite the fact it has not been approved by the FDA;

(c) Solvay omitted material information known to it that would have disclosed
the fact that Estratest lacks FDA approval to consumers, in order to induce members of the general

public to purchase Estratest;
-16 -
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(d) Defendant also engages in unlawful business acts and practices in violation
of the Unfair Competition Law by violating state law including, but not limited to, Civil Code
§§ 1572, 1709, 1710, Section 17500 of the Business & Professions Codé and Health & Safety
Code §§ 111330 and 111440. Violations of these and other laws constitute unfair practices that are
independently actionable under Section 17200;

(e) Defendant’s marketing scheme described above is a fraudulent business
practice that is likely to deceive the public;

® Defendant falsely and deceptively marketed Estratest for women suffering
from moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms associated with menopause who do not respond to
estrogens alone, despite the fact that the FDA has not approved it for those or any other
“indications”;

(g) Defendant’s statements made to promote sales and distribution of Estratest
constitute false advertising made in connection with the sale of goods violating the unfair,
deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising prongs of Section 17200 and Section 17500; and

(h)  Women in the general public have all been directly and proximately injured
in their business and property by Defendant’s wrongful conduct, and such injury includes the
purchase of Estratest, which they would not have purchased were they truthfully and fully
informed of the facts.

50. All of the conduct alleged herein occurs and continues to occur in Defendant’s
business. Defendant’s wrongful conduct is part of a pattern or generalized course of conduct
repeated on thousands of occasions daily vconstituting an “act” or “practice” within the meaning of
the Section 17200. Thus, Defendant’s conduct impacts the public interest.

51.  Plaintiff requests that this Court enter such orders or judgments as may be necessary
to restore to any person in interest any money which may have been acquired by Defendant by
means of such unfair practices, as provided in Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203 and Civil Code § 3345,
and for such other relief as set forth below.

/11
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Untrue and Misleading Advertising
(Business & Professions Code § 17500 et seq.)

52.  The preceding paragraphs of this Fifth Amgnded Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of herself and members of the
Class.

53. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 provides that “[i]t is unlawful for any . . . corporation
... with intent . . . to dispose of . . . personal property . . . to induce the public to enter into any
obligation relating thereto, to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated before the
public in this state, . . . any statement . . . which is untrue or misleading, and which is known, or
which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or misleading . . . .”

‘54. On its box packaging, advertisements, brochures, PDR inserts, promotional and
marketing materials, and on its Internet website and other websites, Solvay holds Estratest out as
being FDA approved.

55. Solvay did not disclose, conspicuously or otherwise, on any of these advertisements
or marketing materials that such representations were untrue or misleading because:

a. Solvay knew or should have reasonably known that FDA approval is
required before selling a product as a “drug;”

b. Solvay has continued to seek FDA approval since 1981 and has been unable
to obtain it;

C. Solvay represents falsely that Estratest is FDA approved; and

d. Solvay has continued to advertise, promote, market and sell Estratest despite
the fact that it has been aware that Estratest lacks FDA épproval.

56. As a result of the violations of California law described above, Defendant has been,
and will be, unjustly enriched at the expense of the general public. Specifically, Defendant has
been unjustly enriched by its receipt of monies received from customers who purchased Estratest
which is advertised and/or otherwise marketed in this State, and was promoted and sold through
advertising and marketing materials which materially misrepresent the status of the product.
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57. Pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535, Plaintiff and members of the Class are

entitled to the remedies set forth below.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and members of the Class request that the Court enter an order or
judgment against Defendant as follows:

A. Certification of the Class and appointment of Plaintiff Alexander as Class
Representative and her counsel of record as Class Counsel;

B. Equitable relief in the form of restitution and/or disgorgement of all
unlawful or illegal profits received by Defendant as a result of the unfair, unlawful and/or
deceptive conduct alleged herein;

C. Prejudgment and post-judgment interest on such monetary relief, awarded in
accordance with California law;

D. Injunctive relief in the form of an order stating that Defendant is enjoined
from engaging in unfair, unlawful and/or deceptive acts or practices, as set forth herein;

E. Injunctive relief in the form of an order that Defendant be required to
publish notice of the truth regarding Estratest in order to notify physicians and consumers that the
FDA has not approved Estratest for any use;

F. An order awarding Plaintiff the costs of bringing this suit, including
attoreys’ fees; and

G. All other relief to which Plaintiff and members of the Class may be entitled

at law or in equity.

-19-
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DATED: December 9, 2005

HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP

By Z /<«\/\

“LEE M. GOERDON

ELAINE T. BYSZEWSKI

700 South Flower Street, Suite 2940
Los Angeles, CA 90017-4101
Telephone: (213) 330-7150

STEVE W. BERMAN

HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP
1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2900

Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: (206) 623-7292

THOMAS M. SOBOL

HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP
225 Franklin Street, 26" Floor

Boston, MA 02110

Telephone: (617) 482-3700

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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F the Americas, New York, NY 10010,

S. R. Weiss, H. Ellman, &

(Reis RA. Apologia. Obstet Gymecol 1953;1:1~2.)

Volume 94, Number 3, September 1999

Uterine Bleeding in Postmenopausal Women on Continuous
Therapy With Estradiol and Norethindrone Acetate
Norethindrone acetate reduces the incidence of uterine bleeding in a dose-

dependent fashion in postmenopausal women in continuous combined hormone
replacement therapy.

A Randomized Controlled Trial of Four Doses of Transdermal
Estradiol for Preventing Postmenopausal Bone Loss

Transdermal estradiol doses of 0.025, 0.05, 0.06, and 0.1 mg per day effectively
prevent bone loss in postmenopausal women.

Serum Androgen Levels and Muscle Mass in Women With
Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

In women with polycystic ovary syndrome, muscle size correlates positive‘ly with
serum androgen levels and upper body-fat distribution, independent of height.

Hysteroscopic Myomectomy: Long-Term Effects on Menstrual
Pattern and Fertility '

Hysteroscopic myomectomy is safe, provides satisfactory menorrhagia control, and
limits lesion recurrence but has little benefit for infertility.

Vaginal Removal of the Benign Nonprolapsed Uterus:
Experience With 300 Consecutive Operations

Vaginal hysterectomy is a highly effective way to remove benign nonprolapsed
uteri.
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M. Rene Malinow,
Tanya K. Sorenson,
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Michelle A. Williams

Yasumasa Ohno,
Michiyasu Kawai,
Yasunori Wakahara,
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Yoshitaro Arii

William M. Barron,
Paul Heckerling,
Judith U, Hibbard, &
Susan Fisher

L. Stewart Massad &
Peter M. Meyer
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. John O. Schorge,
nneth R. Lee, Sandra J. Lee,
Cynthia E. Flynn,
Annekathryn Goodman, &
" Ellen E. Sheets

Mitchel S. Hoffman,

Michael Parsons,
Sivaselvi Gunasekaran, &
Denis Cavanagh

Francesca Chiaffarino,
Fabio Parazzini,

Carlo La Vecchia,
Liliane Chatenoud,
Elisabetta Di Cintio, &
Silvia Marsico

Plasma Homocyst(e)ine Concentrations in Eclamptic and
Preeclamptic African Women Postpartum

Postpartum plasma homocyst(e)ine concentrations were higher in eclamptic and

preeclamptic African women than in normotensive African women.
P

Ophthalmic Artery Velocimetry in Normotensive and
Preeclamptic Women With or Without Photophobia

Pulsatility index is lower and mean velodity of ophthalmic artery is higher in
preeclamptic women compared with normal women.

Reducing Unnecessary Coagulation Testing in Hypertensive
Disorders of Pregnancy

If the platelet count and serum lactate dehydrogenase level are normal, and there is
no evident bleeding when evaluating a woman for preeclampsia, measurement of
prothrombin time, activated partial thromboplastin time, and fibrinogen is
unnecessary.

Predicting Compliance With Follow-up Recommendations A fter
Colposcopy Among Indigent Urban Women
Among urban, indigent women, the nature of the management recommendations is

the best predictor of compliance after colposcopy.

See-and-Treat in the Management of High-Grade Squamous
Intraepithelial Lesions of the Cervix: A Resource Utilization
Analysis

See-and:treat offers significant resource savings over conventional methods- of
evaluation and treatment of women with high-grade squamous intraepithelial
lesions found on cervical cytology.

Early Cervical Adenocarcinoma: Selection Criteria for Radical
Surgery v

Radical surgery for clinical stage IB, cervical adenocarcinoma and primary
radiotherapy for stage IB,~ILA disease would avoid combined-modality therapy,
thereby reducing treatment-related toxicity and cost.

Distal External Iliac Lymph Nodes in Early Cervical Cancer

Lymph nodes are found distal to the deep circumflex iliac vein in most women with
early cervical cancer, and some may be positive.

Diet and Uterine Myomas

Women with uterine myomas more frequently consume meat and ham and less
frequently consume green vegetables, fruit, and fish than do controls.
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Not only is estrogen
lost during menopause

‘Androgen may drop by more than half
in naturally menopausal women** .

% A rapid androgen loss of up
. to 80% may occur in surgically
::- menopausal women?

: Prescribe ESTRATEST® Tablets—
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Symptoms in patients not improved
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